

## ACN 009 213 763

## **FINANCIAL STATEMENTS**

for the year ended 30 June 2010

## Contents

CORPORATE INFORMATION
DIRECTORS' REPORT3
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
AUDITOR'S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION
STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DIRECTORS' DECLARATION
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT60

## **Corporate Information**

#### **Directors:**

Ian McMaster (Chairman)
Michael Minosora (Managing Director)
Tony Veitch (Executive Director)
Alan Mulgrew (Non-Executive Director)
Jay Wacher (Non-Executive Director)

## **Company Secretary:**

Yasmin Broughton

#### **Independent Auditors:**

HLB Mann Judd Level 4 130 Stirling Street PERTH WA 6000

## **Legal Advisers:**

Johnson Winter & Slattery Level 1, 216 St Georges Terrace PERTH WA 6000

Frasers Law Company Level 10, Saigon Centre 65 Le Loi Boulevard District 1, Ho Chi Minh City Vietnam

## **Registered & Principal Office:**

Level 29, Bankwest Tower 108 St Georges Terrace PERTH WA 6000

Telephone: + 618 6141 7100 Facsimile: + 618 6141 7101

#### **Postal Address:**

PO Box Z5431 St Georges Terrace PERTH WA 6831

## **Home Exchange:**

Australian Securities Exchange Exchange Plaza 2 The Esplanade PERTH WA 6000 ASX Codes – ATI ATIO

## **Share Registry:**

Security Transfer Registrars Pty Ltd PO Box 535 APPLECROSS WA 6953 Telephone +618 9315 2333

## Directors' Report

Your Directors have pleasure in submitting their report on the Consolidated Entity, being Atlantic Ltd (**Atlantic** or the **Company**) and its controlled entities, for the year ended 30 June 2010 (the **Group**).

The Directors' Report, Financial Statements, Directors' Declaration and Corporate Governance Statement have, to the extent possible, been prepared in accordance with the requirements in the Corporations Act 2001 and the Listing Rules of the Australian Securities Exchange.

#### **DIRECTORS**

The Directors of the Company at the date of this report and their relevant background details are as follows:

### Mr Ian McMaster AM - Chairman

Appointed 11 April 2010 BE (Metallurgy), ME

#### **EXPERIENCE AND EXPERTISE**

Ian McMaster is a former Chief Executive Officer of CSR Sugar, a position he held for seven years. Prior to this, Mr McMaster spent more than 30 years with BHP in a range of senior executive roles in the steel and minerals businesses in New South Wales, Victoria, Western Australia and China.

#### OTHER CURRENT LISTED DIRECTORSHIPS

Non-Executive Director - Intrepid Mines Limited

#### INTERESTS IN SHARES AND OPTIONS

No ordinary shares in Atlantic No options over ordinary shares in Atlantic

## Mr Michael Minosora - Managing Director

Appointed 25 September 2009 BBus, MBA, CA

## **EXPERIENCE AND EXPERTISE**

Mr Minosora is a qualified Chartered Accountant who has over 20 years experience in the corporate advisory arena, advising on significant corporate transactions both in Australia and South East Asia. Mr Minosora was previously Chief Financial Officer of Fortescue Metals Group, Managing Director with Azure Capital and Managing Partner of Ernst & Young in Western Australia.

#### OTHER CURRENT LISTED DIRECTORSHIPS

None

#### INTERESTS IN SHARES AND OPTIONS

5,174,692 ordinary shares in Atlantic No options over ordinary shares in Atlantic 8 Class B Performance Shares

## Directors' Report (continued)

## Mr Tony Veitch - Executive Director

Appointed 4 July 2007 BCom, MBA

### **EXPERIENCE AND EXPERTISE**

Mr Veitch has a Bachelor of Commerce degree and a Master of Business Administration. Mr Veitch previously acted as a consultant to a wide range of private and public companies. Prior to that, Mr Veitch was the Manager of Corporate Projects for the London Stock Exchange and worked with the Australian Securities Exchange.

#### OTHER CURRENT LISTED DIRECTORSHIPS

Non-Executive Director – Baraka Petroleum Limited

### INTERESTS IN SHARES AND OPTIONS

1,320,000 ordinary shares in Atlantic 160,000 options over ordinary shares in Atlantic

## Mr Alan Mulgrew - Non-Executive Director

Appointed 11 April 2010 BA (Mgnt), Dip Corp Fin, GRAICD, JP

#### **EXPERIENCE AND EXPERTISE**

Mr Mulgrew provides strategic advice to numerous major institutions in the aviation, construction, infrastructure and energy sectors. Mr Mulgrew spent more than 35 years as a senior aviation executive both within Australia and overseas, including managing responsibility for Perth and Sydney Airports. Mr Mulgrew has held a number of high profile directorships, including Chairman, with both private and public companies.

### OTHER CURRENT LISTED DIRECTORSHIPS

None

## **INTERESTS IN SHARES AND OPTIONS**

200,000 ordinary shares in Atlantic No options over ordinary shares in Atlantic

### Mr Jay Wacher - Non-Executive Director

Appointed 11 April 2010 BCom, LLB, A.S.A.A.

#### **EXPERIENCE AND EXPERTISE**

Mr Wacher is currently Finance Director of PT Elang Mahkota Teknologi Tbk (Emtek Group), an Indonesian-based television and telecommunications services business. Prior to that, Mr Wacher was Managing Director of Finance of world class plantation company, PT London Sumatra Indonesia Tbk, which was acquired by an international investment consortium in 2004 in a debt restructuring.

Mr Wacher has 16 years experience in corporate finance and private equity investment and has had 10 years experience in business in South East Asia. Mr Wacher was previously a director of Carnegie, Wylie & Company, the Australian investment bank and private equity firm, and before that a Director of Arthur Anderson.

## Directors' Report (continued)

## OTHER CURRENT LISTED DIRECTORSHIPS

Pt Elang Mahkota Teknologi Tbk (Emtek Group)

#### INTERESTS IN SHARES AND OPTIONS

1,257,143 ordinary shares in Atlantic No options over ordinary shares in Atlantic

#### Mr John Hannaford – Executive Director

Appointed 4 July 2007, Resigned 12 April 2010

### Mr Jim Malone - Non-Executive Director

Appointed 4 July 2007, Resigned 27 November 2009

### **COMPANY SECRETARY**

## Yasmin Broughton - General Counsel/Company Secretary

Appointed 10 August 2010 BCom, Post Grad. Dip Law, GAICD

Ms Broughton is General Counsel and Company Secretary of Atlantic. Prior to joining Atlantic, Ms Broughton was the General Counsel and Company Secretary of Jemena Limited and prior to that Acting General Counsel and Company Secretary of Alinta Limited. Prior to her in-house roles, Ms Broughton worked in top tier law firms advising clients on company law and governance, equity capital markets and mergers and acquisitions.

### Morgan Barron - Company Secretary

Appointed 10 August 2007, Resigned 31 March 2010

#### Stacey Apostolou - Company Secretary

Appointed 15 March 2010, Resigned 13 August 2010

#### PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES OF THE COMPANY

During the year, Atlantic announced a major change in strategic direction to become a resources business. As a result of this change in strategy, the principal activities of the Group during the period were the application for and preliminary exploration of the Bao Loc Bauxite Project in Vietnam, evaluation of other bauxite opportunities in Vietnam and the evaluation of the Windimurra vanadium project. Atlantic ceased investment in its pearl marketing business during the year.

#### **DIVIDENDS**

No dividends were paid during the year and no recommendation is made for the payment of a dividend.

## Directors' Report (continued)

### **REVIEW OF OPERATIONS**

The Group recorded a net loss for the year of \$7,781,467 (2009: \$512,913). This increase in consolidated net loss was a result of increased employee benefit expenses of \$845,575 (2009: \$90,000), higher share based incentive payments of \$1,716,924 (2009: \$128,110) and business acquisition costs of \$282,846 (2009: nil) as the Group increased staff numbers and activities in line with its new strategy to develop a resources business. In addition, the consolidated net loss for the period was impacted by a one-time impairment expense on exploration expenditure of \$3,132,157 (net of related deferred income tax).

## Background to Change in Strategic Direction

In September 2009, Mr Minosora joined Atlantic as Managing Director. Following Mr Minosora's appointment and further analysis of the range of opportunities available to the Company, the Board of Atlantic announced that the Company would adopt a new strategic direction.

Atlantic's vision is to build a diversified portfolio of world class resource projects that provide superior returns to shareholders.

Atlantic intends to deliver on this vision by applying a highly disciplined and innovative approach to the acquisition of resources projects that are low cost, long life and near production.

## **Board and Management Restructure**

In line with its new strategy, during the year the Company undertook a restructuring of its Board. In addition to the appointment of Mr Minosora as Managing Director, the Board was strengthened through the appointment of Mr Ian McMaster AM as Chairman and Mr Alan Mulgrew and Mr Jay Wacher as Non-Executive Directors.

During the year, Mr John Hannaford (Executive Chairman) and Mr Jim Malone (Non-Executive Director) resigned and Mr Tony Veitch became an Executive Director.

### Bao Loc Bauxite Project

The Bao Loc Bauxite Project is held by Azure Mining International Pty Ltd ( $\mathbf{AMI}$ ), a 100%-owned subsidiary of the Company. AMI is negotiating with the Vietnamese authorities in relation to the Bao Loc Bauxite Project, which seeks to cover approximately 100 km² near Bao Loc, Lam Dong Province, Vietnam.

During the year, AMI conducted preliminary exploration of the Bao Loc Bauxite Project in Vietnam and continued discussions with the relevant authorities in Vietnam regarding the necessary approvals to develop the project.

As at the date of this report, AMI has not entered into a definitive agreement with the relevant authorities in Vietnam to conduct mineral exploration, exploitation and/or processing activities in relation to the Bao Loc Bauxite Project. Discussions are ongoing with the authorities in Vietnam and Atlantic remains committed to pursuing the project.

## Directors' Report (continued)

## Memorandum of Understanding

As part of the proposed development of the Bao Loc Bauxite Project, Atlantic entered into discussions with a number of parties in Vietnam. Those discussions were most constructive and in late 2009 led to the signing of a memorandum of understanding with T-MV, a Vietnamese state owned corporation, for the potential development of a major bauxite mine, rail and port project in the Central Highlands of Vietnam.

Following signing of the memorandum of understanding, the parties have held regular discussions, however at this stage no agreement has been reached to develop the project or to fund any of the potential project expenditure.

## Windimurra Vanadium Project

As part of Atlantic's new strategic direction, during the year the Company examined the opportunity to acquire an interest in the Windimurra vanadium project in Western Australia.

The Windimurra project is a world scale vanadium project that, once operational at nameplate capacity, is expected to produce approximately 5,700 tonnes of contained vanadium per annum and 1 million tonnes per annum of haematite fines.

In December 2009, Atlantic announced that it had entered into a heads of agreement with Mineral Resources Limited (MRL) to re-launch the Windimurra vanadium project. Under the terms of the heads of agreement, Atlantic agreed to become a 25% equity holder in the project vehicle Midwest Vanadium Pty Ltd (MVPL) and arrange the new secured debt funding required to complete the commissioning of the Windimurra vanadium project.

Subsequent to that announcement, in April 2010, Atlantic announced that it had signed a new agreement with MRL to acquire a 62.5% equity interest in a new entity established to own 100% of MVPL (**NewCo**). Atlantic was to earn its 62.5% interest in NewCo for procuring new project finance sufficient to complete construction and commissioning of the Windimurra project. The remaining 37.5% of NewCo was to be held by MRL (27.5%) and the existing lenders to MVPL (10%). This agreement was subsequently restructured to allow the Company to acquire 100% of the Windimurra vanadium project after year end.

#### Corporate

During the year, the Company completed a placement of 140,000,000 shares at 3.5 cents each (pre-consolidation) to raise \$4,900,000 before costs.

## Directors' Report (continued)

## SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN THE STATE OF AFFAIRS

As outlined above, during the year, the Company announced a new strategic direction to become a resources company. The Company also announced that it did not intend to pursue further investment in pearl marketing.

Consistent with this stated change of strategic direction, the Company announced the signing of a memorandum of understanding with T-MV for the potential development of a major mine, rail and port project in Vietnam and agreements to acquire an interest in the Windimurra vanadium project.

#### **EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO BALANCE DATE**

Following the end of the financial year, the following significant events have occurred:

- On 5 July 2010, 25,000,000 shares (1,000,000 post-consolidation shares) were issued to Mr Veitch pursuant to the Executive Share Incentive Plan. This issue of shares was approved by shareholders at a meeting on 30 June 2010;
- On 5 August 2010, Atlantic announced a restructuring of the deal with MRL to acquire the Windimurra vanadium project, whereby Atlantic would acquire MRL's proposed 27.5% equity interest in NewCo for \$16,000,000. As part of this agreement, it was also agreed that MVPL would acquire the crushing and beneficiation plant at the Windimurra site from MRL for \$60,000,000 on 1 April 2011;
- On 13 August 2010, Atlantic announced the signing of a new agreement with the existing lenders to MVPL which allowed Atlantic to acquire the remaining 10% of NewCo for the issue of 3,400,000 ordinary shares (post-consolidation), thereby delivering Atlantic 100% control of the Windimurra project. As part of the agreement with the existing lenders, Atlantic also agreed to provide a new secured loan to MVPL at completion of \$30,000,000 and a further loan of \$20,000,000 on 24 December 2010;
- On 13 August 2010, shareholders of the Company approved a change in the nature and scale of the Group's activities to become a resources company. At the same meeting, shareholders also approved a 25 for 1 consolidation of share capital, the issue of 50,500,000 shares at \$1.10 each (on a post-consolidation basis) and the issue of 169,811 broker options (also on a post-consolidation basis);
- On 16 September 2010, the Company lodged a prospectus for the issue of:
  - 50,500,000 ordinary shares at an issue price of \$1.10 per share to raise \$55,550,000 before issue costs; and
  - 3,400,000 ordinary shares as consideration for the acquisition of an effective 10% interest in MVPL.

#### (the **Prospectus Offer**); and

• On 21 September 2010, the Company completed the \$55,550,000 capital raising, issued the securities pursuant to the Prospectus Offer and completed the acquisition of 100% of the Windimurra vanadium project.

## Directors' Report (continued)

Following completion of the acquisition of 100% of the Windimurra vanadium project on 21 September 2010, NewCo and MVPL became part of the Group. The Group now intends to proceed to complete the construction and commissioning of the Windimurra vanadium project as soon as practicable. The remainder of the funding necessary to complete construction and commissioning of the Windimurra vanadium project and acquire the crushing and beneficiation plant from MRL will be sourced from new project finance facilities to be acquired in addition to the existing working capital available to the Group following the Prospectus Offer.

#### LIKELY DEVELOPMENTS

Information on likely developments in the operations of the Consolidated Entity and the expected results of these operations have not been included in the financial report because the Directors believe it would be likely to result in unreasonable prejudice to the Consolidated Entity.

## Directors' Report (continued)

### DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN THE SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

As at the date of this report, the interests of the Directors in the securities of the Company are:

Directors	Shares	Listed Options	Unlisted Options	Class B Performance Shares
Ian McMaster	-	-	-	-
Michael Minosora	*5,174,692	-	-	8
Anthony Veitch	**1,320,000	80,000	80,000	-
Alan Mulgrew	200,000	-	-	-
Jay Wacher	1,257,143	-	-	-

<sup>\* 3,960,000</sup> post consolidation shares have been issued to Mr Minosora pursuant to the Company's ESIP, whereby the shares are secured by a limited recourse loan by the Company to Mr Minosora. Furthermore, the shares have vesting conditions and may only be sold should the Company's shares trade at greater than \$1.25 for a 10 day period.

#### **DIRECTORS' MEETINGS**

The attendance of Directors at meetings of the Company's Board of Directors during the year ended 30 June 2010 is set out below:

	Director Attendance	Eligible to Attend
Ian McMaster	2	2
Michael Minosora	6	6
Anthony Veitch	8	8
Alan Mulgrew	2	2
Jay Wacher	1	2
John Hannaford	6	6
Jim Malone	3	4

## RETIREMENT, ELECTION AND CONTINUATION IN OFFICE OF DIRECTORS

Mr A Veitch continued in office for the full financial year.

Mr M Minosora was appointed Managing Director on 25 September and Mr I McMaster, Mr A Mulgrew and Mr J Wacher were appointed to the Board of Directors on 11 April.

Mr J Malone resigned as a Director on 27 November 2009 and Mr J Hannaford resigned as Director on 12 April 2010.

<sup>\*\* 1,000,000</sup> post consolidation shares have been issued to Mr Veitch pursuant to the Company's ESIP, whereby the shares are secured by a limited recourse loan by the Company to Mr Veitch. Furthermore, the shares have vesting conditions and may only be sold should the Company's shares trade at greater than \$1.875 for a 10 day period.

## Directors' Report (continued)

#### REMUNERATION REPORT

This report outlines the remuneration arrangements in place for the key management personnel of Atlantic for the financial year ended 30 June 2010. The information provided in this remuneration report has been audited as required by Section 308(3C) of the Corporations Act 2001.

The remuneration report details the remuneration arrangements for key management personnel (KMP) who are defined as those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the major activities of the Company and the Group, directly or indirectly, including any Director (whether executive or otherwise) of the parent company, and includes the executives in the Parent and the Group receiving the highest remuneration.

#### KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL

## (i) Directors

Mr Ian McMaster (Chairman) – Appointed 11 April 2010

Mr Michael Minosora (Managing Director) - Appointed 25 September 2010

Mr Tony Veitch (Executive Director)

Mr Alan Mulgrew (Non-Executive Director) – Appointed 11 April 2010

Mr Jay Wacher (Non-Executive Director) – Appointed 11 April 2010

Mr John Hannaford (Executive Director) – Resigned 12 April 2010

Mr Jim Malone (Non-Executive Director) – Resigned 27 November 2010

### (ii) Executives

Mr Thanh Nguyen (Managing Director Vietnam Operations) Mr Jonathan Fisher (Business Development Manager)

#### **REMUNERATION PHILOSOPHY**

The performance of the Company depends upon the quality of the Directors and executives. The philosophy of the Company in determining remuneration levels is to:

- set competitive remuneration packages to attract and retain high calibre employees;
- link executive rewards to shareholder value creation; and
- establish appropriate, demanding performance hurdles for variable executive remuneration.

#### REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee of the Board of Directors of the Company is responsible for determining and reviewing compensation arrangements for the Directors, the Managing Director and the executive team.

The Remuneration Committee assesses the appropriateness of the nature and amount of remuneration of Directors and executives on a periodic basis by reference to relevant employment market conditions with an overall objective of ensuring maximum stakeholder benefit from the retention of a high quality Board and executive team.

## Directors' Report (continued)

#### REMUNERATION STRUCTURE

In accordance with best practice Corporate Governance, the structure of Non-Executive Director and executive remuneration is separate and distinct.

#### **NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR REMUNERATION**

The Board seeks to set aggregate remuneration at a level that provides the Company with the ability to attract and retain Directors of the highest calibre, whilst incurring a cost that is acceptable to shareholders.

The ASX Listing Rules specify that the aggregate remuneration of Non-Executive Directors shall be determined from time to time by general meeting. The latest determination was at the Extraordinary General Meeting held on 30 June 2010 when shareholders approved an aggregate remuneration of \$500,000 per year.

The amount of aggregate remuneration sought to be approved by shareholders and the manner in which it is apportioned amongst Directors is reviewed annually. The Board considers advice from external shareholders as well as the fees paid to Non-Executive Directors of comparable companies when undertaking the annual review process.

Each Director receives a fee for being a Director of the Company. An additional fee is also paid for each Board committee on which a Director sits. The payment of additional fees for serving on a committee recognises the additional time commitment required by Directors who serve on one or more sub committees.

The remuneration of Non-Executive Directors for the period ended 30 June 2010 is detailed in Table 1 of this report.

#### SENIOR MANAGER AND EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR REMUNERATION

Remuneration consists of fixed remuneration and variable remuneration (comprising short-term and long-term incentive schemes).

## Fixed Remuneration

Fixed remuneration is reviewed annually by the Remuneration Committee. The process consists of a review of relevant comparative remuneration in the market and internally and, where appropriate, external advice on policies and practices. The Remuneration Committee has access to external, independent advice where necessary.

Senior executives are given the opportunity to receive their fixed (primary) remuneration in a variety of forms including cash and fringe benefits such as motor vehicles and expense payment plans. It is intended that the manner of payment chosen will be optimal for the recipient without creating undue cost for the Group.

The fixed remuneration component of the most highly remunerated Group and company executives is detailed in Table 1.

## Directors' Report (continued)

### Variable Remuneration

The objective of the Atlantic Executive Share Incentive Plan (ESIP) is to link the achievement of the Group's operational targets with the remuneration received by the executives charged with meeting those targets. The total potential short term incentive available is set at a level so as to provide sufficient incentive to the senior manager to achieve the operational targets such that the cost to the Group is reasonable in the circumstances.

Actual ESIP shares granted to each senior manager depend on the extent to which specific operating targets set at the beginning of the financial year are met.

The aggregate of ESIP shares available for executives across the Group is subject to the approval of the Remuneration Committee and must not exceed 5% of the total number of shares on issue, except in certain permitted circumstances detailed in the key terms of the ESIP.

# Directors' Report (continued)

Table 1: Remuneration of Directors and Executives

		Short terr	m-employme	nt benefits	Post- employment benefits	Equity	
		Salary & Fees \$	Bonuses \$	Non- Monetary Benefits \$	Super- annuation \$	ESIP \$	Total \$
Directors	2010	25 220			2 270		27.400
Ian McMaster	<b>2010</b> 2009	25,229 -	-	<u>-</u> -	2,270 -	<u>-</u> -	27,499 -
Chairman							
Michael	2010	188,779	-	-	16,990	1,680,646	1,886,415
Minosora <i>Managing</i> <i>Director</i>	2009	-	-	-	-	-	-
Anthony	2010	72,339	_	_	5,160	_	77,499
Veitch <i>Executive</i>	2009	30,000	-	-	, -	-	30,000
Director							
Alan	2010	20,000	-	-	-	-	20,000
Mulgrew <i>Non-</i> <i>Executive</i>	2009	-	-	-	-	-	-
Director							
Jay Wacher <i>Non-</i> <i>Executive</i>	<b>2010</b> 2009	20,000 -	-	-	<del>-</del> -	-	20,000 -
Director							
John	2010	93,803	_	-	_	_	93,803
Hannaford Executive Chairman (Resigned 12 April 2010)	2009	77,500	-	-	-	-	77,500
Jim Malone	2010	12,500	-	-	-	-	12,500
Non- Executive Director (Resigned 27 November 2009)	2009	30,000	-	-	-	-	30,000
Executives	2012	054044					054044
Thanh Nguyen Managing Director Vietnam Operations	<b>2010</b> 2009	254,861 - -	-	-	-	-	254,861 - -
Jonathan Fisher Business Development Manager	<b>2010</b> 2009	89,685 -	-	-	8,072 -	36,278 -	134,035 -

## Directors' Report (continued)

#### ATLANTIC EXECUTIVE SHARE INCENTIVE PLAN

The key features of the ESIP are set out below.

### Participation

Any person who is employed by the Company, or a subsidiary of the Company, is eligible to participate in the Plan.

#### ESIP limits

Under the ESIP, the Company must not offer shares under the ESIP (**Plan Shares**) if, at the time of offer, the total number of shares issued under the ESIP (including shares which are proposed to be issued pursuant to offers made under the ESIP) during the 5 year period up to and including the date of offer, exceeds 5% of the total number of shares on issue. For the purposes of calculating this 5% limit, offers made under a disclosure document or Product Disclosure Statement, or offers that do not otherwise require a disclosure document or Product Disclosure Statement, are excluded.

## Special Conditions

The ESIP provides that the Board has the power to impose special conditions on the issue of Plan Shares under the ESIP (such as performance hurdles or retention periods).

#### Loan

The Board may, in its absolute discretion, grant a loan to a participant for the purposes of subscribing for Plan Shares. Loans granted under the ESIP will be non-recourse (other than against the Plan Shares held by the participant to which the loan relates) and interest free unless otherwise determined by the Board at the time of granting the loan. The loan will become immediately repayable upon the first to occur of:

- cessation of employment;
- the participant selling, transferring, mortgaging, charging or otherwise disposing of or dealing with an interest in the Plan Shares;
- the participant creating or attempting to create a third party interest in the Plan Shares; or
- the participant becoming bankrupt.

A participant may repay the loan at any time during the term of the loan.

### Trustee Arrangements

Where the Board provides a loan to assist an eligible employee to participate in the ESIP, the Board may determine that the Plan Shares acquired be held by a trustee (appointed by the Board) on trust for the benefit of the participant. In such circumstances, and subject to any special conditions imposed on the offer of Plan Shares, the trustee may only transfer the Plan Shares to the participant after the loan has been repaid in full. If the participant fails to repay the loan when it becomes due and payable, then subject to any special conditions, the trustee may sell the relevant Plan Shares and apply the net proceeds against the outstanding amount of the loan. Any excess proceeds will be remitted to the participant.

## Directors' Report (continued)

## Dividend and Voting Rights

The participant will be entitled to dividends and to vote at a general meeting of the Company. However, whilst any loan is still outstanding in relation to the acquisition of Plan Shares, dividends will be applied on the participant's behalf in repayment of the principal amount outstanding under the loan. Further, whilst Plan Shares are held by a trustee, voting rights will be exercised on the participant's behalf by proxy through the trustee.

#### Takeovers and Schemes of Arrangements

If a takeover bid is made for the Company, or an application is to be made to the Court under section 411 of the Corporations Act in respect of a proposed reconstruction or amalgamation relating to the Company, the Board has the discretion to waive any of the conditions restricting the participant from selling, transferring, mortgaging, charging or otherwise disposing or dealing with any interest in the Plan Shares.

#### Amendments to ESIP rules

The Board may amend the ESIP rules from time to time.

#### **SERVICE AGREEMENTS**

Remuneration and other terms of employment for the Directors and senior executives are also formalised in service agreements. Major provisions of the agreements relating to remuneration are set out below:

Name	Base pay \$	Contract duration	Notice period Company	Notice period Employee	Termination provision
Directors					_
Ian McMaster	110,000	No fixed term	1 month	1 month	No provision
Michael Minosora	300,000	No fixed term	6 months	6 months	Accrued leave entitlements
Tony Veitch	250,000	No fixed term	6 months	6 months	Accrued leave entitlements
Alan Mulgrew	80,000	No fixed term	1 month	1 month	No provision
Jay Wacher	80,000	No fixed term	1 month	1 month	No provision
Executives					
Thanh Nguyen	US\$240,000	No fixed term	1 month	1 month	No provision
Jonathan Fisher	250,000	No fixed term	1 month	1 month	Accrued leave entitlements

## Directors' Report (continued)

## SHARES UNDER OPTION

As at the date of this report, and following the consolidation of share capital approved by shareholders on 13 August 2010, the Company has the following options over ordinary shares on issue:

Date Granted	Expiry Date	Exercise Price	Number of Shares under Option
08/08/07	31/12/10	\$0.250	1,783,834
10/03/09	31/12/11	\$0.200	9,321,823
22/09/10	31/08/12	\$1.325	169,811

These options do not entitle the holders to participate in any share issue of the Company or any other body corporate. There were 125,487,888 ordinary shares (preconsolidation) issued as a result of the exercise of options during the year ended 30 June 2010.

# INDEMNIFICATION AND INSURANCE OF DIRECTORS, OFFICERS AND AUDITORS

The Company has paid a premium of \$9,329 to insure all of the Directors against liabilities for costs and expenses incurred by them in defending any legal proceedings arising out of their conduct while acting in the capacity of Director of the Company, other than conduct involving a wilful breach of duty in relation to the Company.

#### PROCEEDINGS ON BEHALF OF COMPANY

No person has applied for leave of Court to bring proceedings on behalf of the Company or to intervene in any proceedings to which the Company is a party for the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the Company for all or any part of those proceedings. The Company was not a party to any such proceedings during the year.

## **NON-AUDIT SERVICES**

The Company may decide to employ the auditor on assignments additional to their statutory audit duties where the auditor's expertise and experience with the Company is important.

Details of amounts paid or payable to the auditor for audit and non-audit services provided during the current period and the prior comparative period are set out below.

#### A. Audit Services

	2010 \$	2009 \$
HLB Mann Judd - Audit and review of financial reports	20,000	13,500
Total remuneration for audit services	20,000	13,500

#### **B.** Non-Audit Services

There were no non-audit services provided by the auditor for the years ended 30 June 2009 and 30 June 2010.

## Directors' Report (continued)

## **AUDITOR'S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION**

A copy of the auditor's independence declaration as required under section 307C of the *Corporations Act 2001* is set out on page 28.

### **AUDITOR**

HLB Mann Judd continues in office in accordance with Section 327 of the *Corporations Act 2001*.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the board of Atlantic Ltd.

**TONY VEITCH** 

**Executive Director** 

Dated this 30<sup>th</sup> day of September 2010

## Corporate Governance Statement

Atlantic is committed to creating and building sustainable value for shareholders and protecting stakeholder interests. The Company recognises that high standards of corporate governance are essential to achieving that objective. The Company continues to develop and review its corporate governance practices. This statement summarises the Corporate Governance policies and practices adopted by the Company and its controlled entities (collectively the **Group**) at the date of this report.

#### **ROLE OF THE BOARD**

The Board represents shareholders' interests in maintaining a successful business, which seeks to optimise medium to long-term financial gains for shareholders. By not focusing on short-term gains for shareholders, the Board believes this will ultimately result in the interests of all stakeholders being appropriately addressed when making business decisions.

The Board is responsible for ensuring that the Group is managed in such a way to best achieve this desired result. Given the current size and operations of the business, the Board currently undertakes an active, not passive role.

The Board is responsible for evaluating and setting the strategic directions for the Group, establishing goals for management and monitoring the achievement of those goals. The Managing Director is responsible to the Board for the day-to-day management of the Group.

The Board has sole responsibility for the following:

- appointing and removing the Managing Director, the Executive Director and any other executives and approving their remuneration;
- appointing and removing the Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary and approving their remuneration;
- determining the strategic direction of the Group and measuring performance of management against approved strategies;
- review of the adequacy of resources for management to properly carry out approved strategies and business plans;
- adopting operating and capital expenditure budgets at the commencement of each financial year and monitoring progress against both financial and non-financial key performance indicators;
- monitoring the Group's medium term capital and cash flow requirements;
- approving and monitoring financial and other reporting to regulatory bodies, shareholders and other organisations;
- determining that satisfactory arrangements are in place for auditing the Group's financial affairs;
- review and ratify systems of risk management and internal compliance and control, codes of conduct and compliance with legislative requirements; and
- ensuring that policies and compliance systems consistent with the Group's objectives and best practice are in place and that the Company and its officers act legally, ethically and responsibly on all matters.

The Board's role and the Group's corporate governance practices are being continually reviewed and improved as required.

## Corporate Governance Statement (continued)

Whilst at all times the Board retains full responsibility for guiding and monitoring the Company, in discharging its stewardship it makes use of sub-committees. Specialist committees are able to focus on a particular responsibility and provide informed feedback to the Board.

To this end, the Board has established the following committees:

- Audit; and
- Remuneration and Nomination.

The roles and responsibilities of these committees are discussed later within this Corporate Governance Statement.

The Board has also resolved to establish a Safety and Environment Committee comprising all Directors in the near future.

#### MANAGEMENT FUNCTIONS

The Company has established the functions that are reserved for management. Management is responsible, on a shared basis with and subject to the approval of the Board, for developing strategy, and is directly responsible for implementing the Company's strategy. Management is also responsible for safeguarding the Company's assets, maximising the utilisation of available resources and for creating wealth for Atlantic's shareholders.

#### **COMPOSITION OF BOARD**

The Board comprises five Directors, being two Executive Directors and three Non-Executive Directors. Two Non-Executive Directors are considered to be independent and one Non-Executive Director is considered not to be independent due to his role with a new substantial shareholder of the Company following the recent Prospectus Offer. The Board does not comprise a majority of independent Directors.

Director	Independent	Non-executive	Term in office
Ian McMaster	Yes	Yes	5 months
Michael Minosora	No – Managing Director	No	1 year
Tony Veitch	No – Executive Director	No	3 years, 2 months
Alan Mulgrew	Yes	Yes	5 months
Jay Wacher	No	Yes	5 months

## **EVALUATION OF THE BOARD, COMMITTEES AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT**

The Board has adopted a self-evaluation process to measure its own performance and the performance of its committees during each financial year. Also, an annual review is undertaken in relation to the composition and skills mix of the Directors of the Company.

Arrangements put in place by the Board to monitor the performance of the Group's executives include:

- a review by the Board of the Group's financial performance; and
- annual performance appraisal meetings incorporating analysis of key performance indicators with each individual to ensure that the level of reward is aligned with respective responsibilities and individual contributions made to the success of the Company.

## Corporate Governance Statement (continued)

### **BOARD COMMITTEES**

#### **AUDIT COMMITTEE**

The Board has established an Audit Committee which operates under a charter approved by the Board. It is the Board's responsibility to ensure that an effective internal control framework exists within the entity. This includes internal controls to deal with both the effectiveness and efficiency of significant business processes, the safeguarding of assets, the maintenance of proper accounting records, and the reliability of financial information as well as non-financial considerations. The Board has delegated responsibility for establishing and maintaining a framework of internal control and ethical standards to the Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee also provides the Board with additional assurance regarding the reliability of financial information for inclusion in the financial reports. The members of the Audit Committee are:

Mr Jay Wacher – Chairman Mr Ian McMaster Mr Alan Mulgrew

A copy of the Audit Committee Charter is available on the Company's website.

#### REMUNERATION AND NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The role of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee is to assist the Board in establishing policies and practices which:

- (a) enables the Company to attract and retain capable Directors and employees who achieve operational excellence and create value for shareholders;
- (b) reward employees fairly and responsibly, taking into consideration the results of the Company, individual performance and industry remuneration conditions; and
- (c) assist the Board to meet its oversight responsibilities in relation to Corporate Governance practices.

The members of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee are:

Mr Jay Wacher – Chairman Mr Ian McMaster Mr Alan Mulgrew

All members of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee are Non-Executive Directors. A majority of the Committee is independent.

A copy of the Remuneration Committee Charter is available on the Company's website.

# INDEPENDENT PROFESSIONAL ADVICE AND ACCESS TO COMPANY INFORMATION

All Directors have the right of access to all relevant Company information, to the Company's executives and, subject to prior consultation with the Chairman, may seek independent professional advice concerning any aspect of the Company's operations or undertakings at the Company's expense.

## Corporate Governance Statement (continued)

### CODE OF CONDUCT

The Board acknowledges the need for continued maintenance of the highest standard of corporate governance practice and ethical conduct by all Directors and employees of the Company.

The Board has adopted a Code of Conduct for Directors to promote ethical and responsible decision-making by the Directors. The code is based on a code of conduct for Directors prepared by the Australian Institute of Company Directors.

The principles of the code are:

- a Director must act honestly, in good faith and in the best interests of the Company as a whole;
- a Director has a duty to use due care and diligence in fulfilling the functions of office and exercising the powers attached to that office;
- a Director must use the powers of office for a proper purpose, in the best interests of the Company as a whole;
- a Director must recognise that the primary responsibility is to the Company's shareholders as a whole but should, where appropriate, have regard for the interest of all stakeholders of the Company;
- a Director must not make improper use of information acquired as a Director;
- a Director must not take improper advantage of the position of Director;
- a Director must not allow personal interests, or the interests of any associated person, to conflict with the interests of the Company;
- a Director has an obligation to be independent in judgment and actions and to take all reasonable steps to be satisfied as to the soundness of all decisions taken as a Board:
- confidential information received by a Director in the course of the exercise of directorial duties remains the property of the Company and it is improper to disclose it, or allow it to be disclosed, unless that disclosure has been authorised by the Company, or the person from whom the information is provided, or is required by law;
- a Director should not engage in conduct likely to bring discredit upon the Company;
   and
- a Director has an obligation at all times, to comply with the spirit, as well as the letter of the law and with the principles of the Code.

The principles are supported by guidelines as set out by the Australian Institute of Company Directors for their interpretation. Directors are also obliged to comply with the Company's Code of Ethics and Conduct, as outlined below.

#### **CODE OF ETHICS AND CONDUCT**

The Company has implemented a Code of Ethics and Conduct, which provides guidelines aimed at maintaining high ethical standards, corporate behaviour and accountability within the Company.

## Corporate Governance Statement (continued)

All Directors and employees are expected to:

- respect the law and act in accordance with it;
- respect confidentiality and not misuse Company information, assets or facilities;
- value and maintain professionalism;
- avoid real or perceived conflicts of interest;
- act in the best interests of shareholders;
- by their actions contribute to the Company's reputation as a good corporate citizen which seeks the respect of the community and environment in which it operates;
- perform their duties in ways that minimise environmental impacts and maximise workplace safety;
- exercise fairness, courtesy, respect, consideration and sensitivity in all dealings within their workplace and with customers, suppliers and the public generally; and
- act with honesty, integrity, decency and responsibility at all times.

An employee that breaches the Code of Ethics and Conduct may face disciplinary action. If an employee suspects that a breach of the Code of Ethics and Conduct has occurred or will occur, he or she must report that breach to management. No employee will be disadvantaged or prejudiced if he or she reports in good faith a suspected breach. All reports will be acted upon and kept confidential.

#### **CONFLICTS OF INTEREST**

In accordance with the Corporations Act and the Company's Constitution, Directors must keep the Board advised, on an ongoing basis, of any interest that could potentially conflict with those of the Company. Where the Board believes that a significant conflict exists, the Director concerned does not receive the relevant Board papers and is not present at the meeting whilst the item is considered.

## **DEALINGS IN COMPANY SECURITIES**

The Company's share trading policy imposes basic trading restrictions on all employees of the Company with 'inside information', and additional trading restrictions on the Directors of the Company.

Inside information is information that:

- is not generally available; and
- if it were generally available, it would, or would be likely to influence investors in deciding whether to buy or sell the Company's securities.

If an employee possesses inside information, the person must not:

- trade in the Company's securities;
- · advise others or procure others to trade in the Company's securities; or
- pass on the inside information to others including colleagues, family or friends knowing (or where the employee or Director should have reasonably known) that the other persons will use that information to trade in, or procure someone else to trade in, the Company's securities.

## Corporate Governance Statement (continued)

This prohibition applies regardless of how the employee or Director learns the information (e.g. even if the employee or Director overhears it or is told in a social setting). Directors and senior executives of Atlantic are required to notify the Company Secretary before dealing in the Company's securities.

In addition to the above, Directors must notify the Company Secretary as soon as practicable, but not later than 5 business days, after they have bought or sold the Company's securities or exercised options. In accordance with the provisions of the Corporations Act and the Listing Rules of the ASX, the Company on behalf of the Directors must advise the ASX of any transactions conducted by them in the securities of the Company.

Breaches of this policy will be subject to disciplinary action, which may include termination of employment.

A copy of the Company's Securities Dealing Policy is available on the Company's website.

### **CONTINUOUS DISCLOSURE**

The Company is committed to providing relevant up-to-date information to its shareholders and the broader investment community in accordance with its continuous disclosure obligations under the ASX Listing Rules and the Corporations Act.

The Board has implemented a Continuous Disclosure Policy to ensure that information considered material by the Company is immediately reported to the ASX. Other information such as Company presentations are also disclosed to the ASX and are on the Company's website.

The Company's website provides access to all current and historical information, including ASX announcements, financial reports and other releases.

### SHAREHOLDER COMMUNICATION

In adopting a Continuous Disclosure Policy, the Board ensures that shareholders are provided with up-to-date information.

Communication to shareholders is facilitated by the production of the annual report, quarterly and half yearly reports, public announcements and the posting of all ASX announcements and other information on the Company's website.

Shareholders are encouraged to attend and participate in the Annual General Meeting (AGM) of the Company. Shareholders may raise questions at the AGM and the external auditor is in attendance at such meetings to address any questions in relation to the conduct of the audit.

#### **RISK MANAGEMENT**

The Board is responsible for the oversight of the Company's risk management and control framework. Responsibility for control and risk management is delegated to the appropriate level of management within the Company with the Managing Director and

## Corporate Governance Statement (continued)

Executive Director having ultimate responsibility to the Board for the risk management and control framework.

Areas of significant business risk to the Company are highlighted in the Business Plan presented to the Board by the Managing Director each year.

Arrangements put in place by the Board to monitor risk management include regular reporting to the Board in respect of operations and the financial position of the Group.

### ASX BEST PRACTICE RECOMMENDATIONS

The table below contains a list of each of the ASX Best Practice Recommendations and whether the Company was in compliance with the recommendations at the end of the year. Where the Company considers that it is divergent from these recommendations, or that it is not practical to comply, there is an explanation of the Company's reasons set out below the table.

	Principle/Recommendation	Complied
1	Lay solid foundations for management and oversight	
1.1	Establish and disclose the functions reserved to the Board and those delegated to management.	√
1.2	Disclose the process for evaluating the performance of senior executives.	<b>&gt;</b>
2	Structure the Board to add value	
2.1	A majority of the Board should be independent directors.	See Note 1
2.2	The chair should be an independent director.	√
2.3	The roles of chair and chief executive officer should not be exercised by the same individual.	✓
2.4	The Board should establish a nomination committee.	<b>✓</b>
2.5	Disclose the process for evaluating the performance of the Board, its committees and individual directors.	<b>~</b>
3	Promote ethical and responsible decision making	
3.1	Establish a code of conduct to guide the directors, the chief executive officer (or equivalent), the chief financial officer (or equivalent) and any other key executives as to:  • the practices necessary to maintain confidence in the Company's integrity;  • the practices necessary to take into account their legal obligations and the reasonable expectations of their stakeholders; and  • the responsibility and accountability of individuals for reporting	√
	and investigating reports of unethical practices.	
3.2	Disclose the policy concerning trading in Company securities by directors, officers and employees.	√

## Corporate Governance Statement (continued)

	Principle/Recommendation	Complied
4	Safeguard integrity in financial reporting	
4.1	The Board should establish an Audit Committee.	√
4.2	The Audit Committee should be structured so that it:	See Note 2
	<ul> <li>consists of only non-executive directors;</li> <li>consists of a majority of independent directors;</li> <li>is chaired by an independent chair, who is not chair of the Board;</li> <li>has at least three members.</li> </ul>	
4.3	The audit committee should have a formal charter.	√
5	Make timely and balanced disclosure	
5.1	Establish written policies and procedures designed to ensure compliance with ASX Listing Rule disclosure requirements and to ensure accountability at a senior management level for that compliance.	<b>~</b>
6	Respect the rights of shareholders	
6.1	Design and disclose a communications strategy to promote effective communication with shareholders and encourage effective participation at general meetings.	√
7	Recognise and manage risk	
7.1	Establish policies for the oversight and management of material business risks and disclose a summary of those policies.	√
7.2	The Board should require management to design and implement the risk management and internal control system to manage the Company's material business risks and report to it on whether those risks are being managed effectively. The Board should disclose that management has reported to it as to the effectiveness of the Company's management of its material business risks.	√
7.3	The Board should disclose whether it has received assurance from the chief executive officer (or equivalent) and the chief financial officer (or equivalent) that the declaration provided in accordance with section 295A of the Corporations Act is founded on a sound system of risk management and internal control and that the system is operating effectively in all material respects in relation to financial reporting risks.	<b>√</b>
8	Remunerate fairly and responsibly	
8.1	The Board should establish a remuneration committee	√
8.2	Clearly distinguish the structure of non-executive directors' remuneration from that of executive directors and senior executives.	√

## Corporate Governance Statement (continued)

Note 1: For the financial year, a majority of the Board were independent directors. Mr Jay Wacher ceased to be an independent director on 22 September 2010 when a company of which he is a Director become a substantial shareholder of Atlantic. Mr Wacher does not have a relevant interest in the shares held by the substantial shareholder.

Note 2: Mr Wacher is Chairman of the Company's Audit Committee. Mr Wacher ceased to be an independent director on 22 September 2010 as disclosed in Note 1 above. The Board intends to review this situation in the context of the current Audit Committee Charter.

Various corporate governance practices are discussed within this statement. For further information on the Company's corporate governance practices and policies, please refer to the Company's website.



### AUDITOR'S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION

As lead auditor for the audit of the financial report of Atlantic Limited for the year ended 30 June 2010, I declare that to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been no contraventions of:

- a) the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit; and
- b) any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

This declaration is in respect of Atlantic Limited.

Perth, Western Australia 30 September 2010 L DI GIALLONARDO Partner, HLB Mann Judd

Siallounds.

## Statement of Comprehensive Income

For the year ended 30 June 2010

		Consolidated	
	Note	2010 \$	2009 \$
Revenue	3	-	21,000
Other income	3	173,874	45,115
Employee benefits expense		(845,575)	(90,000)
Share based payments	20	(1,716,924)	(128,110)
Business acquisition costs		(282,846)	-
Financial & administration expense		(819,484)	(203,501)
Impairment expense	10	(3,132,157)	-
Indirect costs of acquisition		-	(44,527)
Depreciation	11	(2,670)	-
Interest		(107)	-
Other expenses		(1,155,578)	(112,890)
Loss before income tax	_	(7,781,467)	(512,913)
Income tax expense	4	-	-
Net loss for the year	_	(7,781,467)	(512,913)
Other comprehensive income	_	-	
Total comprehensive loss for the year	=	(7,781,467)	(512,913)
Basic loss per share (cents per share)	7	(0.71)	(0.11)

The above Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes to the financial statements.

## Statement of Financial Position

## As at 30 June 2010

		Consolidated		
	Note	2010 \$	2009 \$	
ASSETS				
CURRENT ASSETS				
Cash and cash equivalents	8	4,118,349	1,516,952	
Trade and other receivables	9	116,613	18,291	
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS		4,234,962	1,535,243	
NON-CURRENT ASSETS				
Exploration expenditure	10	-	3,228,777	
Property, plant and equipment	11	22,798		
TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS		22,798	3,228,777	
TOTAL ASSETS		4,257,760	4,764,020	
CURRENT LIABILITIES				
Trade and other payables	12	544,278	150,296	
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES		544,278	150,296	
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES				
Deferred tax liability	10 & 13	-	750,006	
TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES		-	750,006	
TOTAL LIABILITIES		544,278	900,302	
NET ASSETS		3,713,482	3,863,718	
EQUITY				
Issued capital	14	24,093,101	18,178,794	
Reserves	14	1,845,034	128,110	
Accumulated losses		(22,224,653)	(14,443,186)	
TOTAL EQUITY		3,713,482	3,863,718	

The above Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes to the financial statements.

## Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 30 June 2010

		Is	ssued Capital					
			Performance	Shares		Executive		
Consolidated	Note	Ordinary \$	Class A \$	Class B \$	Option Reserve \$	Share Incentive Plan Reserve \$	Accumulated losses \$	Total \$
Balance at 1.07.2008		14,882,114	-	-	-	-	(13,930,273)	951,841
Issue of shares	14	2,660,196	750,000	15	-	-	-	3,410,211
Issue costs	14	(113,531)	-	-	-	-	-	(113,531)
Loss attributable to members of parent entity	1.4	- -	-	-	-	-	(512,913)	(512,913)
Issue of options	14	-	750.000	-	128,110	-	-	128,110
Balance at 30.06.2009		17,428,779	750,000	15	128,110	-	(14,443,186)	3,863,718
Issue (conversion) of shares	14	6,681,468	(750,000)	-	_	1,716,924	-	7,648,392
Issue costs	14	(17,161)	-	-	-	-	-	(17,161)
Loss attributable to members of parent entity		<u> </u>	-	-	-	-	(7,781,467)	(7,781,467)
Balance at 30.06.2010		24,093,086	-	15	128,110	1,716,924	(22,224,653)	3,713,482

The above Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes to the financial statements.

## Statement of Cash Flows

## For the year ended 30 June 2010

		Consolidated		
		2010	2009	
	Note	\$	\$	
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES				
Receipts from customers		-	60,619	
Payments to suppliers and employees		(2,807,825)	(358,908)	
Interest received		173,874	45,115	
Interest paid		(107)		
Net cash used in operating activities	8	(2,634,058)	(253,174)	
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES			_	
Payments for exploration activities	10	(653,386)	(716,610)	
Payments for property, plant and equipment		(25,467)	-	
Payments for due diligence on acquisition			(44,527)	
Net cash used in investing activities		(678,853)	(761,137)	
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES				
Proceeds from issue of shares		5,931,469	1,660,196	
Capital raising costs		(17,161)	(113,531)	
Net cash provided by financing activities		5,914,308	1,546,665	
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents		2,601,397	532,354	
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of financial year	8	1,516,952	984,598	
Cash and cash equivalents at end of financial year	8	4,118,349	1,516,952	

The above Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes to the financial statements.

## Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended 30 June 2010

### NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Atlantic Ltd (the **Company**) is a listed public company domiciled in Australia. The consolidated financial report of the Company for the year ended 30 June 2010 comprises the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the **Consolidated Entity** or **Group**).

## **Basis of Preparation**

The financial report is a general purpose financial report that has been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations, other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board and the *Corporations Act* 2001.

Australian Accounting Standards set out accounting policies that the AASB has concluded would result in a financial report containing relevant and reliable information about transactions, events and conditions to which they apply. The financial report complies with Australian Accounting Standards, which include Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (AIFRS). Compliance with AIFRS ensures that the financial statements and notes also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).

The financial report was authorised for issue on 30 September 2010 by the Board of Directors.

The following is a summary of the material accounting policies adopted by the Consolidated Entity in the preparation of the financial report. The accounting policies have been consistently applied, unless otherwise stated.

The financial report has been prepared on an accrual basis and is based on historical costs modified, where applicable, by the revaluation of selected non-current assets and financial assets and financial liabilities for which the fair value basis of accounting has been applied.

The Group has applied the revised AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements which became effective on 1 January 2009. The revised standard requires the separate presentation of a statement of comprehensive income and a statement of changes in equity. All non-owner changes in equity must now be presented in the statement of comprehensive income. As a consequence, the Group has had to change the presentation of its financial statements. Comparative information has been re-presented so that it is also in conformity with the revised standard.

## A. Income Tax

The charge for current income tax expense is based on the profit for the year adjusted for any non-assessable or disallowed items. It is calculated using the tax rates that have been enacted or are substantially enacted by the balance date.

Deferred tax is provided on all temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. No deferred income tax will be recognised from the initial recognition of an asset or liability, excluding a business combination, where there is no effect on accounting or taxable profit or loss.

## Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

# NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

## A. Income Tax (continued)

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or liability is settled. Deferred tax is credited in the statement of comprehensive income except where it relates to items that may be credited directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is adjusted directly against equity.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future tax profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised.

The amount of benefits brought to account or which may be realised in the future is based on the assumption that no adverse change will occur in income taxation legislation and the anticipation that the Group will derive sufficient future assessable income to enable the benefit to be realised and comply with the conditions of deductibility imposed by the law.

#### B. Financial Instruments

Financial instruments in the scope of AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement are classified as either financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments, or available-for-sale investments, as appropriate. When financial instruments are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value, plus, in the case of investments not at fair value through profit or loss, directly attributable transactions costs. The Group determines the classification of its financial assets after initial recognition and, when allowed and appropriate, re-evaluates this designation at each financial year-end.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial instruments are recognised on the trade date i.e. the date that the Group commits to purchase the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial instruments under contracts that require delivery of the instrument within the period established generally by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

## Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss

A financial asset is classified in this category if acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short term or if so designated by management and within the requirements of AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. Gains or losses on investments held for trading are recognised in profit or loss.

## Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market and are stated at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the loans and receivables are derecognised or impaired, as well as through the amortisation process.

## Held-to-maturity investments

These investments have fixed maturities, and it is the Company's intention to hold these investments to maturity. Any held-to-maturity investments held by the Company are stated at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the investments are derecognised or impaired, as well as through the amortisation process.

## Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

# NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

#### B. Financial Instruments (continued)

#### Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets include any financial assets not included in the above categories. Available-for-sale financial assets are reflected at fair value. Unrealised gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are taken directly to equity.

#### Financial liabilities

Non-derivative financial liabilities are recognised at amortised cost, comprising original debt less principal payments and amortisation.

#### <u>Impairment</u>

At each reporting date, the Company assesses whether there is objective evidence that a financial instrument has been impaired. In the case of available-for-sale financial instruments, a prolonged decline in the value of the instrument is considered to determine whether impairment has arisen. Impairment losses are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

#### C. Impairment of Assets

At each reporting date, the Company reviews the carrying values of its tangible and intangible assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have been impaired. If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset, being the higher of the asset's fair value less costs to sell and value in use, is compared to the asset's carrying value. Any excess of the asset's carrying value over its recoverable amount is expensed to the statement of comprehensive income.

Impairment testing is performed annually for goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives.

Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Company estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

#### D. Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Company has a legal or constructive obligation, as a result of past events, for which it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will result and that outflow can be reliably measured.

#### E. Cash and Cash Equivalents

For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash includes deposits at call with financial institutions and other highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to cash on hand and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, net of outstanding bank overdrafts.

#### F. Revenue

Interest revenue is recognised on a proportional basis taking into account the interest rates applicable to the financial assets.

Revenue from the rendering of a service is recognised upon the delivery of the service to the customers.

All revenue is stated net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST).

## Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

## NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

#### G. Borrowing Costs

Borrowing costs are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income in the period in which they are incurred.

#### H. Goods and Services Tax (GST)

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Tax Office. In these circumstances, the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of an item of expense. Receivables and payables in the statement of financial position are shown inclusive of GST.

Cash flows are presented in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis, except for the GST component of investing and financing activities, which are disclosed as operating cash flows.

## I. Comparative Figures

When required by Accounting Standards, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to changes in presentation for the current financial year.

#### J. Issued Capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

#### K. Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated as net profit / loss attributable to members of the parent, adjusted to exclude any costs of servicing equity (other than dividends), divided by the weighted average number of ordinary shares.

Diluted earnings per share is calculated as net profit / loss attributable to members of the parent, adjusted for:

- costs of servicing equity (other than dividends) and preference share dividends;
- the after tax effect of dividends and interest associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares that have been recognised as expenses; and
- other non-discretionary changes in revenues or expenses during the period that would result from the dilution of potential ordinary shares.

divided by the weighted average number of ordinary shares and dilutive potential ordinary shares.

#### L. Payables

Trade payables and other payables are carried at amortised cost and represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Company prior to the end of the financial year that are unpaid and arise when the Company becomes obliged to make future payments in respect of the purchase of these goods and services.

## Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

# NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

## M. Principles of consolidation

#### (i) Subsidiaries

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets and liabilities of all subsidiaries of Atlantic Ltd as at 30 June 2010 and the results of all subsidiaries for the year then ended. Atlantic Ltd and its subsidiaries together are referred to in this financial report as the Group or the Consolidated Entity.

Subsidiaries are all those entities (including special purpose entities) over which the Group has the power to govern the financial and operating policies, generally accompanying a shareholding of more than one-half of the voting rights. The existence and effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered when assessing whether the Group controls another entity.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from the date that control ceases. The purchase method of accounting is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries by the Group (refer to note 1(Q)).

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between Group companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of the impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost in the individual financial statements of Atlantic Ltd.

#### N. Critical Accounting Judgments and Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

The application of accounting policies requires the use of judgements, estimates and assumptions about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates. The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if it affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

#### Impairment:

The Directors evaluate estimates and judgments incorporated into the financial report based on historical knowledge and best available current information. Estimates assume a reasonable expectation of future events and are based on current trends and economic data, obtained both externally and within the Company.

#### Share-based payment transactions:

The Group measures the cost of equity-settled transactions with employees by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments at the date at which they are granted. The fair value is determined by an external valuer using a Black and Scholes model, using the assumptions detailed in Note 20.

## Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

## NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

#### O. Share Based Payments

#### (i) Equity settled transactions:

The cost of these equity-settled transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments at the date at which they are granted. The fair value is determined by an external valuer using the Black-Scholes formula taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the instruments were granted (see Note 20).

In valuing equity-settled transactions, no account is taken of any performance conditions, other than conditions linked to the price of the shares of Atlantic Ltd (market conditions) if applicable.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period in which the performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled, ending on the date on which the relevant employees become fully entitled to the award (the vesting period).

The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at each reporting date until vesting date reflects (i) the extent to which the vesting period has expired and (ii) the Group's best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. No adjustment is made for the likelihood of market performance conditions being met as the effect of these conditions is included in the determination of fair value at grant date.

The statement of comprehensive income charge or credit for a period represents the movement in cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest, except for awards where vesting is only conditional upon a market condition.

If the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been modified. In addition, an expense is recognised for any modification that increases the total fair value of the share-based payment arrangement, or is otherwise beneficial to the employee, as measured at the date of modification.

If an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately. However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled award and designated as a replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and new award are treated as if they were a modification of the original award, as described in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect, if any, of outstanding options is reflected as additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per share (see Note 7).

## Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

## NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

## O. Share Based Payments (continued)

(ii) Executive Share Incentive Plan:

The Executive Share Incentive Plan (**ESIP**) is accounted for as an "in-substance" option plan due to the limited recourse nature of the loan between the employees and the Company to finance the purchase of ordinary shares. The dilutive effect, if any, of outstanding options is reflected as additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per share. Shares in the Company held under the ESIP are deducted from equity, and the grant date fair value of the options recognised at reporting date is credited to the Executive Share Incentive Plan Reserve with a corresponding charge to the statement of comprehensive income.

## P. Exploration and evaluation

Exploration and evaluation expenditures in relation to each separate area of interest are recognised as an exploration and evaluation asset in the year in which they are incurred where the following conditions are satisfied:

- (i) the rights to tenure of the area of interest are current; and
- (ii) at least one of the following conditions is also met:
  - the exploration and evaluation expenditures are expected to be recouped through successful development and exploration of the area of interest, or alternatively, by its sale; or
  - (b) exploration and evaluation activities in the area of interest have not at the reporting date reached a stage which permits a reasonable assessment of the existence or otherwise of economically recoverable reserves, and active and significant operations in, or in relation to, the area of interest are continuing.

Exploration and evaluation assets are initially measured at cost and include acquisition of rights to explore, studies, exploratory drilling, trenching and sampling and associated activities and an allocation of depreciation and amortisation of assets used in exploration and evaluation activities. General and administrative costs are only included in the measurement of exploration and evaluation costs where they are related directly to operational activities in a particular area of interest.

Exploration and evaluation assets are assessed for impairment when facts and circumstances suggest that the carrying amount of an exploration and evaluation asset may exceed its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount of the exploration and evaluation asset (for the cash generating unit(s) to which it has been allocated being no larger than the relevant area of interest) is estimated to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but only to the extent that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in previous years.

Where a decision has been made to proceed with development in respect of a particular area of interest, the relevant exploration and evaluation asset is tested for impairment and the balance is then reclassified to development.

## Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

# NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

## P. Exploration and evaluation (continued)

As noted in Note 22, Atlantic acquired 100% of the issued share capital of Azure Mining International Ltd (**AMI**) on 25 May 2009. AMI has applied for a bauxite exploration project covering approximately 100 km² in the Bao Loc district of Lam Dong province in Vietnam.

Refer to Note 10 for further discussion on the carrying value of Exploration Expenditure.

#### Q. Business Combinations

The purchase method of accounting is used to account for all business combinations, including business combinations involving entities or businesses under common control, regardless of whether equity instruments or other assets are acquired. Cost is measured as the fair value of the assets given, equity instruments issued or liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of exchange. Where equity instruments are issued in an acquisition, the fair value of the instruments is their published market price as at the date of exchange unless, in rare circumstances, it can be demonstrated that the published price at the date of exchange is an unreliable indicator of fair value and that other evidence and valuation methods provide a more reliable measure of fair value. Transaction costs arising on the issue of equity instruments are recognised directly in equity. Indirect costs relating to the acquisition are expensed in the period in which they occur.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date, irrespective of the extent of any minority interest. The excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair value of the Group's share of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the cost of acquisition is less than the Group's share of the fair value of the identifiable net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognised directly in the statement of comprehensive income, but only after a reassessment of the identification and measurement of the net assets acquired.

Where settlement of any part of cash consideration is deferred, the amounts payable in the future are discounted to their present value as at the date of exchange. The discount rate used is the entity's incremental borrowing rate, being the rate at which a similar borrowing could be obtained from an independent financier under comparable terms and conditions.

## Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

# NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

## R. Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision maker. The chief operating decision maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating segments, has been identified as the Board of Directors of Atlantic.

#### Change in accounting policy

The Group has adopted AASB 8 Operating Segments from 1 July 2009. AASB 8 replaces AASB 114 Segment Reporting. The new standard requires a 'management approach', under which segment information is presented on the same basis as that used for internal reporting purposes. This has not resulted in a change in the number of reportable segments presented by the Group as operating segments are reported in a manner that is consistent with internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision maker.

#### NOTE 2: ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED STANDARDS

#### Changes in accounting policies on initial application of Accounting Standards

In the year ended 30 June 2010, the Group has reviewed all of the new and revised Standards and Interpretations issued by the AASB that are relevant to its operations and effective for the current annual reporting period.

During the year, certain accounting policies have changed as a result of new or revised accounting standards which became operative for the annual reporting period commencing on 1 July 2009.

The affected policies and standards are:

- Principles of consolidation revised AASB 127 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements and changes made by AASB 2008-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Cost of an Investment in a Subsidiary, Jointly Controlled Entity and Associate
- Business combinations revised AASB 3 Business Combinations
- Segment reporting new AASB 8 Operating Segments
- Financial Instruments revised AASB 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures
- Borrowing Costs revised AASB 123 Borrowing Costs

The Group has also reviewed all new Standards and Interpretations that have been issued but are not yet effective for the year ended 30 June 2010. As a result of this review the Directors have determined that there is no impact, material or otherwise, of the new and revised Standards and Interpretations on its business and, therefore, no change necessary to Group accounting policies.

## Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

#### **NOTE 3: REVENUE**

	Consolidated	
	2010	2009
	\$	\$
Revenue - commissions received	-	21,000
Other Income:		
Interest	173,874	45,115
	173,874	66,115

#### **NOTE 4: INCOME TAX EXPENSE**

#### A. Reconciliation

The income tax expense (benefit) for the financial year differs from the amount calculated prima facie on the Profit/(Loss). The differences are reconciled as follows:

	Consolidated	
	2010	2009
	\$	\$
Profit/(Loss) before income tax	(7,781,467)	(512,913)
Income tax expense/(benefit) calculated @ 30% Tax effect of:	(2,334,440)	(153,874)
Non-deductible provisions	32,127	9,644
Non-deductible expenses	1,460,574	-
Other	(212,821)	(235,446)
Income tax expense (benefit) adjusted for permanent differences	(1,054,560)	(379,676)
Tax losses not brought to account as future income tax benefits	1,054,560	379,676
Income tax attributable to operating loss	-	-

The tax rate used in the above reconciliation is the corporate tax rate of 30% payable in Australia by corporate entities on taxable profits under Australian tax law. There has been no change in this tax rate since the previous reporting period.

## B. Deferred Tax Assets Not Recognised

The consolidated entity has income tax losses of \$4,761,397 (2009: \$1,246,198) that are available to offset future assessable income as at 30 June 2010. The parent entity has income tax losses of \$3,379,254 (2009: \$517,441) that are available to offset future assessable income as at 30 June 2010.

The following deferred tax assets are not brought to account, as it is not considered probable that future assessable income is sufficient to enable the benefit from the deductions for the losses to be realised.

	Consolida	Consolidated	
	2010	2009	
	\$	\$	
Deferred tax assets in relation to:			
- Income tax losses	1,428,419	373,859	

## Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

## NOTE 5: AUDITORS' REMUNERATION

	Consolidated		
	2010 \$	2009 \$	
Remuneration of the auditor of the parent entity for auditing or reviewing the financial report:			
HLB Mann Judd	20,000	13,500	
	20,000	13,500	

## **NOTE 6: DIVIDENDS**

No dividends have been paid during the year. There is no dividend proposed.

#### **NOTE 7: LOSS PER SHARE**

	Consolidated	
	2010	2009
	\$	\$
a.Loss used to calculate basic and diluted EPS	(7,781,467)	(512,913)
	No.	No.
b. Weighted average number of ordinary shares (pre consolidation) outstanding during the year used in calculating basic loss per		
share	1,099,404,439	450,411,450

c. Diluted loss per share has not been calculated as the result does not increase loss per share.

## **NOTE 8: CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS**

	Consolidated	
	2010	2009
	\$	\$
Cash at bank and in hand	4,118,349	1,516,952
Reconciliation of loss for the year to net cash flows	from operating activities	es:
Loss after income tax	(7,781,467)	(512,913)
Non-cash flows in profit		
Share Based Payments	1,716,924	128,110
Impairment expense	3,132,157	=
Depreciation	2,670	-
(Increase) in trade receivables	(98,324)	(10,717)
Due diligence costs in relation to acquisition	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	44,527
Increase in payables and accruals	393,982	97,819
Cash flows from operations	(2,634,058)	(253,174)

## **NOTE 9: TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES**

	Consolidated	
	2010	2010
	\$	\$
CURRENT		
Other receivables	116,613	18,291
	116,613	18,291

## Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

#### **NOTE 10: EXPLORATION EXPENDITURE**

	Consolidated	
	2010	2009
	\$	\$
Costs carried forward in respect of:		
Exploration and evaluation phase – at cost		
Balance at beginning of year	3,228,777	-
Acquired on acquisition of subsidiary	-	253,293
Expenditure incurred	653,386	475,464
Impairment expense	(3,882,163)	-
Fair value adjustment on Consolidation	-	2,500,020
Total exploration expenditure	-	3,228,777

Atlantic is in discussions with the relevant authorities in Vietnam to progress the Bao Loc Bauxite Project. Those discussions are ongoing and Atlantic remains committed to pursuing the project. The Directors have decided to take a conservative approach and recognise an impairment charge on the carrying value of Exploration Expenditure as at 30 June 2010 given discussions have not resulted in the signing of a definitive joint venture or development agreement at balance date. The impairment charge of \$3,132,157 in the statement of comprehensive income comprises a gross impairment charge of \$3,882,163 offset by a reversal of a previously recognised deferred tax liability of \$750,006 in respect of a fair value adjustment to deferred exploration expenditure in the previous year.

#### NOTE 11: PROPERTY PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

	Consolidated	
	2010 \$	2009 \$
Balance at beginning of year	-	-
Purchase of property, plant & equipment	25,468	-
Depreciation	(2,670)	-
Balance at the end of year	22,798	-

#### **NOTE 12: TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES**

	Consolidated	
	2010	2009
	\$	\$
Unsecured liabilities:		
Trade payables	320,776	118,150
Sundry payables and accrued expenses	223,502	32,146
	544,278	150,296

Concolidated

## Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

## **NOTE 13: DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES**

Consolidated	
2010	2009
\$	\$
-	750,006
	2010 \$

## **NOTE 14: ISSUED CAPITAL AND RESERVES**

## **Ordinary Shares**

	Comp	Company	
	2010	2009	
	\$	\$	
1,292,644,941 (2009: 768,157,053) fully paid ordinary shares	24,093,086	17,428,779	

Ordinary shares participate in dividends and the proceeds on winding up of the parent entity in proportion to the number of shares held. At shareholders' meetings, each ordinary share is entitled to one vote when a poll is called, otherwise each shareholder has one vote on a show of hands.

	Company	
	No.	\$
Movements in ordinary shares on issue		
At 1 July 2008	336,117,790	14,882,114
Issue of shares @ \$0.005 on 6/3/09	59,213,502	296,068
Issue of shares @ \$0.005 on 10/3/09	52,825,761	264,128
Issue of shares @ \$0.005 on 10/3/09	220,000,000	1,100,000
Issue of shares @ \$0.01 on 21/5/09	100,000,000	1,000,000
Issue costs	-	(113,531)
At 30 June 2009	768,157,053	17,428,779
Conversion of Class A Performance Shares @ \$0.005 on 18/9/09	150,000,000	750,000
Issue of shares @ \$0.035 on 22/10/09	140,000,000	4,900,000
Executive Share Incentive Plan Issue on 24/12/09	99,000,000	-
Executive Share Incentive Plan Issue on 15/3/10	10,000,000	-
Exercise of Options during the year	125,487,888	1,031,468
Issue costs	-	(17,161)
At 30 June 2010	1,292,644,941	24,093,086
Performance Shares		
Movements in Class A Performance Shares		
At 1 July 2008	-	-
Issue of shares on 21/5/09	1,500	750,000
At 30 June 2009	1,500	750,000
Conversion to ordinary shares on 18/9/09	(1,500)	(750,000)
At 30 June 2010	=	<u>-</u>

## Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

## NOTE 14: ISSUED CAPITAL AND RESERVES (CONTINUED)

(CONTINUED)	Company		
	No.	\$	
Movements in Class B Performance Shares			
At 1 July 2008		-	
Issue of shares on 21/5/09	1,500	15	
At 30 June 2009	1,500	15	
At 30 June 2010	1,500	15	

Class B Performance Shares do not participate in dividends and the proceeds on winding up of the parent entity. Class B Performance Shares hold no voting rights at shareholders' meetings when a poll is called, and are not eligible to participate in votes on a show of hands.

#### Reserves

Movements in reserves

Options Reserve:

At 1 July 2008	-	-
Issue of options @ \$0.0064 on 21/5/09	20,000,000	128,110*
At 30 June 2009	20,000,000	128,110
At 30 June 2010	20,000,000	128,110

<sup>\*</sup> Information on the valuation of these options is disclosed in Note 20.

The Options Reserve is used to recognise the fair value of all options on issue but not yet exercised.

Executive Share Incentive Plan Reserve:

At 1 July 2009	-	-
Shares issued to executives during the year*	109,000,000	1,716,924
At 30 June 2010	109,000,000	1,716,924

<sup>\*</sup> Information on the valuation of these shares is disclosed in Note 20.

The Executive Share Incentive Plan (ESIP) Reserve is used to record the fair value of shares issued under this plan at grant date. The ESIP is accounted for as an "insubstance" option plan due to the limited recourse nature of the loan between employees and the Company to finance the purchase of ordinary shares.

## Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

#### **NOTE 15: SEGMENT REPORTING**

## Description of segments

The Consolidated Entity's reportable operating segments are as follows:

- 1. Bauxite Exploration Segment; and
- 2. All Other Segments, which includes the pearl marketing segment and the corporate and administration segment.

The Consolidated Entity's operating segments have been determined with reference to the information used by the chief operating decision maker to make decisions regarding the Group's operations and the allocation of the Consolidated Entity's working capital. It has been determined that the chief operating decision maker of Atlantic is the Board of Directors.

The segments disclosed in the table below have been identified as operating segments that meet any of the following thresholds:

- Segment loss greater than 10% of the combined loss of all loss making operating segments; and
- Segment assets greater than 10% of combined assets of all operating segments.

As each of Atlantic's operating segments operates in the one geographical location, it is therefore not necessary to disclose individual country segments.

Once reportable segments have been identified, all remaining segments that do not satisfy the thresholds are to be aggregated together to form an "All Other Segments" reporting segment. In accordance with AASB 8 Segment Reporting, corporate and administration activities are to be included in the "All Other Segments" reporting segment.

## Segment Information

The following table presents the revenue and profit/loss information regarding the segment information provided to the Chief Operating Decision Maker (being the Board of Atlantic) for the year ended 30 June 2010.

Bauxite Exploration \$	All Other Segments \$	Consolidated \$
<u> </u>	173,874	173,874
(2 222 223)	(, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	(= == · · · · = ·
(3,289,953)	(4,491,514)	(7,781,467)
	-	
		(7,781,467)
	-	
		(7,781,467)
-	2,670	2,670
-	173,874	173,874
-	4,257,760	4,257,760
3,740	540,538	544,278
	Exploration \$	Exploration \$ Segments \$ \$ \

## Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

# NOTE 15: SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED)

20 km - 2000	Bauxite Exploration \$	All Other Segments \$	Consolidated \$
30 June 2009 Segment revenue	_	66,115	66,115
oog.nonerovonao		00/110	33,110
Segment result	(44,527)	(468,386)	(512,913)
Unallocated expenses		-	(512.012)
Results from operating activities Less: discontinued operation			(512,913)
Results from continuing operations		- -	(512,913)
Included within segment result: Interest revenue	-	45,115	45,115
Segment assets Segment liabilities	3,228,777 838,728	1,535,243 61,574	4,764,020 900,302

#### **NOTE 16: CONTROLLED ENTITIES**

	<b>Country of</b>	% Equity Interest		% Equity Interest		Inves	tment
Name	Incorporation	2010	2009	2010 (\$)	2009 (\$)		
Azure Mining International Pty Ltd	Australia	100%	100%	2,003,307	2,003,307		
Atlantic Cambodia Pty Ltd	Australia	100%	-	1	-		
Atlantic Incentive Plan Pty Ltd	Australia	100%	-	1	-		
				2,003,309	2,003,307		

#### **NOTE 17: RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS**

#### Δ Subsidiaries

Atlantic Ltd is the ultimate Australian parent entity and ultimate parent of the Group. The subsidiaries of Atlantic Ltd are disclosed in Note 16.

## Loans to Subsidiary

Loans to subsidiary were made during the year as follows:

	2010	2009
	\$	\$
Beginning of the year	475,464	=
Loans advanced	811,182	475,464
Impairment expense	(1,286,646)	=
End of year	<u> </u>	475,464

Company

## Terms and Conditions of loans

Loans between entities in the wholly owned Group are not interest bearing, unsecured and are payable upon reasonable notice having regard to the financial situation of the Company.

## Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

## **NOTE 17: RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)**

#### B. Directors

The names of persons who were directors of Atlantic Ltd at any time during the financial year are as follows:

- John Hannaford (resigned 12 April 2010)
- Jim Malone (resigned 27 November 2009)
- Anthony Veitch
- Michael Minosora (appointed 25 September 2009)
- Ian McMaster (appointed 11 April 2010)
- Alan Mulgrew (appointed 11 April 2010)
- Jay Wacher (appointed 11 April 2010)

#### C. Remuneration and Retirement Benefits

Information on remuneration and retirement benefits of Directors are disclosed in the Remuneration Report section of the Directors' Report.

#### D. Transactions with Director and Director related entities

Transactions were undertaken between the Company and the following related parties during the year ended 30 June 2010:

- Riverview Corporation Pty Ltd, a company in which Mr John Hannaford has a beneficial interest, was paid director's fees of \$22,500. At 30 June 2010, no amount was owed to Riverview Corporation Pty Ltd;
- Kilkenny Enterprises Pty Ltd, a company in which Mr Jim Malone has a beneficial interest, was paid directors' fees of \$12,500. At 30 June 2010, no amount was owed to Kilkenny Enterprises Pty Ltd;
- Ardath Investments Pty Ltd, a company in which Mr Anthony Veitch has a beneficial interest, was paid directors' fees of \$15,000. At 30 June 2010, no amount was owed to Ardath Investments Pty Ltd;
- Citadel Capital Pty Ltd, a company in which Mr Anthony Veitch has a beneficial interest, was paid project consulting fees of \$124,500. At 30 June 2010, no amount was owed to Citadel Capital Pty Ltd;
- Strategic Solutions (WA) Pty Ltd, a company in which Mr Alan Mulgrew has a beneficial interest, was paid directors' fees of \$20,000 and project consulting fees of \$97,301. At 30 June 2010, an amount of \$40,057 GST exclusive was owed to Strategic Solutions (WA) Pty Ltd;
- During the year, and prior to Mr Alan Mulgrew joining the Board, Strategic Solutions (WA) Pty Ltd entered into an agreement to be entitled to be issued 200,000 fully paid ordinary shares in the capital of Atlantic (post-consolidation) on the signing of a binding agreement with the Vietnam Government or similar body on terms acceptable to Atlantic to allow it to proceed with the mining and export of bauxite from Vietnam and to examine the development of a rail line to service the bauxite industry in Vietnam; and

## Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

## **NOTE 17: RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)**

 Ventnor Capital Pty Ltd, a company in which Mr John Hannaford has a beneficial interest, was paid for executive directors fees, bookkeeping, financial administration, serviced office charges and project consulting during the period, as set out below:

Type of Transaction	Consoli	dated
	2010	2009
	\$	\$
Executive directors' fees	71,303	47,500
Bookkeeping and financial administration	36,312	42,405
Serviced office charges (exclusive of GST)	36,364	54,516
Project consulting	38,814	18,097
TOTAL	182,793	162,518

At 30 June 2010, no amount was owed to Ventnor Capital Pty Ltd (2009: \$11,793).

All transactions with related parties are on normal commercial terms and conditions unless otherwise stated.

#### **NOTE 18: KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL**

#### (a) Shareholdings

Number of Shares held by Directors and Key Management Personnel

#### Year Ended 30 June 2010

	Balance 1 July 2009	Received as Remuneration	Options Exercised	Net Change Other	Balance 30 June 2010	
John Hannaford	26,969,733	-	-	(26,969,733)**	-	
Jim Malone	4,000,000	-	-	(4,000,000) * *	-	
Anthony Veitch	8,000,000	-	-	-	8,000,000	
Michael Minosora	-	99,000,000*	-	30,367,300	129,367,300	
Alan Mulgrew	-	-	-	5,000,000	5,000,000	
Jay Wacher	-	-	-	31,428,572	31,428,572	
Jonathon Fisher		10,000,000*	-	-	10,000,000	
TOTAL	38,969,733	109,000,000	-	35,826,139	183,795,872	

<sup>\*</sup> shares issued pursuant to ESIP in December 2009 and March 2010 respectively

### Year Ended 30 June 2009

	Balance 1 July 2008	Received as Remuneration	Options Exercised	Net Change Other	Balance 30 June 2009
John Hannaford	20,227,300	-	-	6,742,433*	26,969,733
Jim Malone	3,000,000	-	-	1,000,000*	4,000,000
Anthony Veitch	6,000,000	-	-	2,000,000*	8,000,000
TOTAL	29,227,300	-	-	9,742,433	38,969,733

<sup>\*</sup>shares issued on participation in non renounceable entitlements issue in March 2009

<sup>\*\*</sup> net change due to resignation of Directors

## Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

## NOTE 18: KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL (CONTINUED)

#### (b) Option Holdings

Number of Options held by Directors and Key Management Personnel

#### Year Ended 30 June 2010

	Balance 1 July 2009	Received as Remuneration	Options Exercised	Net Change Other	Balance 30 June 2010
John Hannaford	18,363,933	-	-	(18,363,933)*	-
Jim Malone	2,000,000	=	=	(2,000,000)*	-
Anthony Veitch	4,000,000	=	=	-	4,000,000
Other Directors		=	=	=	
TOTAL	24,363,933	=	=	(20,363,933)	4,000,000

<sup>\*</sup> net change due to resignation of Directors

#### Year Ended 30 June 2009

	Balance 1 July 2008	Received as Remuneration	Options Exercised	Net Change Other	Balance 30 June 2009
John Hannaford	11,621,500	-	-	6,742,433*	18,363,933
Jim Malone	1,000,000	=	-	1,000,000*	2,000,000
Anthony Veitch	2,000,000	=	-	2,000,000*	4,000,000
TOTAL	14,621,500	=	-	9,742,433	24,363,933

<sup>\*</sup>options issued on participation in non renounceable entitlements issue in March 2009

#### (c) Remuneration

The remuneration of Directors and Key Management Personnel is disclosed in the Remuneration Report section of the Directors' Report and is not duplicated in this note.

#### (d) Retirement Benefits of Directors

There were no amounts paid during the year in respect of the retirement of Directors.

#### **NOTE 19: FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS**

#### Capital risk management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return to stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group's overall capital management strategy remains unchanged from 2009.

The capital structure of the Group consists of cash and cash equivalents and equity attributable to equity holders of the parent, comprising issued capital, reserves and retained earnings.

None of the Group's entities are subject to externally imposed capital requirements.

Operating cash flows are used to maintain and expand operations, as well as to make routine expenditures such as tax, employee expenses and general administrative outgoings.

## Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

## NOTE 19: FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

	Consolidated		
	2010	2009	
	\$	\$	
Categories of financial instruments			
Financial assets			
Derivative financial instruments	-	-	
Loans and receivables	116,613	18,291	
Cash and cash equivalents	4,118,349	1,516,952	
Available-for-sale financial assets	-	-	
Other financial assets	-	-	
Financial liabilities			
Derivative financial instruments	-	-	
Trade and other payables	544,278	150,296	
Other financial liabilities	-	-	

#### Financial risk management objectives

The Group's financial instruments consist mainly of deposits with its bank, accounts receivable and payable, and loans to subsidiaries.

The Group is exposed to liquidity risk, credit risk and market risk (including currency risk and interest rate risk).

The main purpose of non-derivative financial instruments is to raise finance for Company operations. The Company does not speculate in the trading of derivative instruments.

#### (i) Interest Rate Risk

The Company and Group's exposures to interest rate movements on financial assets and liabilities are detailed in the liquidity risk management section of this note.

## (ii) Credit Risk

The maximum exposure to credit risk at balance date is the carrying amount, net of any provisions for impairment of those assets, as disclosed in the statement of financial position and notes to the financial statements.

The Group does not have any material credit risk exposure to any single receivable or group of receivables.

#### (iii) Market Risk

Currency Risk

The Group operates internationally and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from currency exposures to the US dollar and Vietnamese Dong.

## Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

## NOTE 19: FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Foreign currency risk refers to the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange rates. Atlantic is exposed to foreign exchange currency risk primarily through undertaking certain transactions denominated in foreign currency. Risks are managed at Board level but there are currently no formal measures in place. Atlantic is exposed to foreign currency denominated in US dollars and Vietnamese Dong through its bauxite projects in Vietnam, however, at 30 June 2010 the Group had no financial assets or liabilities that were denominated in US dollars or Vietnamese Dong.

#### Liquidity Risk

The Company manages liquidity risk by monitoring forecast cash flows and ensuring that adequate facilities are maintained and adequate funds available to meet all liabilities as and when they fall due. The following table details the Company's and the Group's expected maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities.

Consolidated 2010	Less than 1 month \$	1-3 Months \$	3 months – 1 year \$	1-5 years \$	5+ years \$
Non-interest bearing	544,278	-	-	-	-
Finance lease liabilities Variable interest rate	-	=	-	-	-
instruments	-	-	-	-	-
Fixed interest rate					
instruments		=	-	-	-
	544,278	-	-	-	
2009					
Non-interest bearing	150,296	-	-	-	-
Finance lease liabilities Variable interest rate	-	-	-	-	-
instruments Fixed interest rate	-	-	-	-	-
instruments		-	-	_	
	150,296				

#### Interest rate risk sensitivity analysis:

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the exposure to interest rates for both derivative and non-derivative instruments at the balance date and the stipulated change taking place at the beginning of the financial year and held constant throughout the reporting period. A 50 basis point increase or decrease is used when reporting interest rate risk internally to key management personnel and represents management's assessment of the change in interest rates.

At balance date, if interest rates had been 50 basis points higher or lower and all other variables were held constant, the Group's net loss would reduce by \$20,592 and increase by \$20,592 (2009: \$7,585). This is mainly attributable to the Group's exposure to interest rates on its variable rate cash deposits.

The Group's sensitivity to interest rates has increased during the current period mainly due to the increase in variable rate cash deposits.

## Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

#### **NOTE 20: SHARE BASED PAYMENTS**

#### Expenses arising from share-based payment transactions

Total expenses arising from share-based payment transactions recognised during the year were as follows:

	Consolidated 2010 \$	Consolidated 2009 \$
Share-based payments: Options issued in consideration for services (i)	· -	128,110
Shares issued in consideration for services (under the Company's Executive Share Incentive Plan)	1,716,924	-
,	1,716,924	128,110

## (i) Options issued:

These options are detailed below:

## Consolidated & Company 2010

Date	Expiry	Exercise Price	Number at beginning	Movement During			Number at end
Granted	Date	\$	of year	the year	Exercised	Expired	of year
20/05/09	31/12/11	0.008	20,000,000	-	-		20,000,000
		_	20,000,000			_	20,000,000

No options were issued in consideration for services in the year ended 30 June 2010. The weighted average remaining contractual life of all share options outstanding at the end of the financial year is 1.50 years.

On 21 May 2009, the Company issued 20,000,000 options to Trident Capital Pty Ltd or its nominee as an introduction fee for the Azure Mining International Ltd transaction. The issue was approved by shareholders at the Extraordinary General Meeting held on 25 February 2009. There are no voting rights attached to the options, the options are transferable by instrument in the form commonly used for the transfer of options and they may be exercised at any time until 31 December 2011.

## Fair value of options granted

The fair value of options issued to Trident Capital Pty Ltd at grant date is determined using a Black-Scholes option pricing model that takes into account the exercise price, the term of the option, the impact of dilution, the non-tradeable nature of the option, the share price at grant date and expected price volatility of the underlying share, the expected dividend yield and the risk-free interest rate for the term of the option.

## Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

## NOTE 20: SHARE BASED PAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

The table below summarises the model inputs for options granted during the year ended 30 June 2009:

Options granted for no consideration

• Exercise price (cents) 0.8

Issue dateExpiry date21 May 200931 December 2011

Underlying security spot price at grant date (cents)
Expected price volatility of the Company's shares
Expected dividend yield
Risk-free interest rate
Black-Scholes Valuation per option
1
98%
0%
4.13%
0.0064

The expected price volatility is based on the historic volatility of the Company's share price in the market.

(ii) Shares issued under the Executive Share Incentive Plan (ESIP):

On 24 December 2009, 99,000,000 ordinary shares (pre-consolidation) were issued to Mr Michael Minosora. On 15 March 2010, 10,000,000 ordinary shares (pre-consolidation) were issued to a key management employee Mr Jonathon Fisher.

#### Fair value of shares granted

Shares granted under the ESIP are accounted for as "in-substance" options due to the limited recourse nature of the loan between the employees and the Company to finance the purchase of ordinary shares. The fair value at grant date for the various tranches of shares issued under the ESIP is determined using a Black-Scholes option pricing model using the following model inputs:

Expected price volatility of the Company's shares
Expected dividend yield
Risk-free interest rate
4.72%

#### **NOTE 21: OPTIONS OVER ORDINARY SHARES**

During the year, 125,487,888 options (pre consolidation) were exercised to take up ordinary shares.

As at the year end, the Company had a total of 221,551,375 (pre consolidation) unissued ordinary shares on which options are outstanding with exercise prices ranging from 0.8 cents to 1 cent (pre consolidation).

#### **NOTE 22: BUSINESS COMBINATIONS**

#### (i) Summary of acquisition

On 21 May 2009, Atlantic acquired 100% of the issued share capital of Azure Mining International Ltd. The acquired business has applied for a mineral exploration permit in Vietnam.

## Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

## NOTE 22: BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (CONTINUED)

Details of the fair value of the assets and liabilities acquired are as follows:

	Ψ
Purchase consideration (refer to (ii) below):	
Cash paid	253,292
Ordinary shares issued	1,000,000
Class A Performance shares issued	750,000
Class B Performance shares issued	15
Total purchase consideration	2,003,307
Fair value of net identifiable assets acquired (refer to (iii) below)	2,003,307

## (ii) Purchase consideration

Performance shares are valued using Atlantic's trading price on the Australian Securities Exchange on the date of acquisition discounted by probability factors set by management as the best estimate of successful completion of the individual performance hurdles.

## (iii) Assets and liabilities acquired

The assets and liabilities arising from the acquisition are as follows:

	Acquiree's carrying amount \$	Fair value \$
Assets Exploration Assets	531,281	3,031,301
<b>Liabilities</b> Loans	277,988	277,988
Deferred Tax Liabilities  Net Assets	253,293	750,006 2,003,307
INCL MODELO	255,295	2,003,307

From the date of acquisition, Azure Mining International Ltd has contributed \$1,539,939 to the net loss of the Group.

On 17 November 2009, Atlantic acquired 100% of the issued share capital of Atlantic Cambodia Pty Ltd for \$1. On 8 December 2009, Atlantic acquired 100% of the issued share capital of Atlantic Incentive Plan Pty Ltd for \$1.

## **NOTE 23: OPERATING LEASES**

	Consolidated		
	2010	2009	
	\$	\$	
Non cancellable operating lease expense commitments:			
Not longer than 1 year	104,271		-
Longer than 1 year and not longer than 5 years	855,021		-
Longer than 5 years			
	959,292		

#### NOTE 24: CONTINGENT ASSETS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Other than as disclosed elsewhere in this report, the Directors are not aware of any contingent liabilities or contingent assets as at 30 June 2010.

## Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

## **NOTE 25: PARENT ENTITY DISCLOSURES**

#### Financial position

·	2010 \$	2009 \$
Assets		
Current assets	4,234,962	1,535,243
Non-current assets	22,800	2,478,771
Total assets	4,257,962	4,014,014
Liabilities		
Current liabilities	544,280	150,296
Non-current liabilities		
Total liabilities	544,280	150,296
Equity		
Issued capital	24,093,101	18,178,794
Accumulated losses	(22,224,653)	(14,443,186)
Option reserve	128,110	128,110
Executive share incentive plan reserve	1,716,924	-
Total equity	3,713,482	3,863,718
Financial performance		
Loss for the year	(7,781,467)	(512,913)
Other comprehensive income		
Total comprehensive loss for the year	(7,781,467)	(512,913)

## **NOTE 26: EVENTS AFTER BALANCE DATE**

Following the end of the financial year, the following significant events have arisen:

- On 5 July 2010, 25,000,000 shares (1,000,000 post-consolidation shares) were issued to Mr Veitch pursuant to the Executive Share Incentive Plan. This issue of shares was approved by shareholders at a meeting on 30 June 2010;
- On 5 August 2010, Atlantic announced a restructuring of the deal with MRL to acquire the Windimurra vanadium project, whereby Atlantic would acquire MRL's proposed 27.5% equity interest in NewCo for \$16,000,000. As part of this agreement, it was also agreed that MVPL would acquire the crushing and beneficiation plant at the Windimurra site from MRL for \$60,000,000 on 1 April 2011;

## Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

- On 13 August 2010, Atlantic announced the signing of a new agreement with the existing lenders to MVPL which allowed Atlantic to acquire the remaining 10% of NewCo for the issue of 3,400,000 ordinary shares (post consolidation), thereby delivering Atlantic 100% control of the Windimurra project. As part of the agreement with the existing lenders, Atlantic also agreed to provide a new secured loan to MVPL at completion of \$30,000,000 and a further loan of \$20,000,000 on 24 December 2010:
- On 13 August 2010, shareholders of the Company approved a change in the nature and scale of the Group's activities to become a resources company. At the same meeting, shareholders also approved a 25 for 1 consolidation of share capital, the issue of 50,500,000 shares at \$1.10 each (on a post-consolidation basis) and the issue of 169,811 broker options (also on a post-consolidation basis);
- On 16 September 2010, the Company lodged a prospectus for the issue of:
  - 50,500,000 ordinary shares at an issue price of \$1.10 per share to raise \$55,550,000; and
  - 3,400,000 ordinary shares as consideration for the acquisition of an effective 10% interest in MVPL.

## (the Prospectus Offer); and

• On 21 September 2010, the Company completed the \$55,550,000 capital raising, issued the securities pursuant to the Prospectus Offer and completed the acquisition of 100% of the Windimurra vanadium project.

Following completion of the acquisition of 100% of the Windimurra vanadium project on 21 September 2010, MVPL became part of the Group. The Group now intends to proceed to complete the construction and commissioning of the Windimurra vanadium project as soon as practicable. The remainder of the funding necessary to complete construction and commissioning of the Windimurra vanadium project and acquire the crushing and benefication plant from MRL will be sourced from new project finance facilities in addition to the existing working capital available to the Group following the Prospectus Offer.

No other matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial year which significantly affected or may significantly affect the operations of the Consolidated Entity, the results of those operations or the state of affairs of the Consolidated Entity in subsequent financial years.

## **NOTE 27: COMPANY DETAILS**

The registered office and principal place of business of the Company is:

Level 29 108 St Georges Terrace Perth WA 6000

## Directors' Declaration

## In the Directors' opinion:

- 1. the financial statements and notes, as set out on pages 29 to 58 are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:
  - a. complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and
  - b. giving a true and fair view of the Consolidated Entity's financial position as at 30 June 2010 and of its performance for the year ended on that date;
- 2. there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable; and
- 3. the financial statements and notes thereto are in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board.

The Directors have been given the declarations by the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer (or their equivalents) required by section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001 for the financial year ended 30 June 2010.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Atlantic Ltd.

**TONY VEITCH**Executive Director

Dated this 30<sup>th</sup> day of September 2010

1/11/-



#### INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

## To the members of ATLANTIC LIMITED

#### **Report on the Financial Report**

We have audited the accompanying financial report of Atlantic Limited ("the company"), which comprises the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2010, and the statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year ended on that date, a summary of significant accounting policies, other explanatory notes and the directors' declaration of the consolidated entity comprising the company and the entities it controlled at the year's end or from time to time during the financial year as set out on pages 29 to 59.

#### Directors' Responsibility for the Financial Report

The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial report in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) and the *Corporations Act 2001*. This responsibility includes establishing and maintaining internal controls relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the financial report that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

In Note 1, the directors also state, in accordance with Accounting Standard AASB 101: *Presentation of Financial Statements*, that the consolidated financial statements comply with International Financial Reporting Standards.

#### Auditor's Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. These Auditing Standards require that we comply with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial report is free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the company's preparation and fair presentation of the financial report in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the company's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report.

Our audit did not involve an analysis of the prudence of business decisions made by directors or management.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions.

## Independence

In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001.

Auditor's Opinion

In our opinion:

- (a) the financial report of Atlantic Limited is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:
  - (i) giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity's financial position as at 30 June 2010 and of its performance for the year ended on that date; and
  - (ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) and the *Corporations Regulations 2001*; and
- (b) the consolidated financial statements also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in Note 1.

#### **Report on the Remuneration Report**

We have audited the Remuneration Report included in pages 11 to 16 of the directors' report for the year ended 30 June 2010. The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the Remuneration Report in accordance with section 300A of the *Corporations Act* 2001. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.

#### Auditor's Opinion

In our opinion the Remuneration Report of Atlantic Limited for the year ended 30 June 2010 complies with section 300A of the *Corporations Act 2001*.

HLB Mann Judd

**HLB MANN JUDD Chartered Accountants** 

Sallondo

Perth, Western Australia 30 September 2010 L DI GIALLONARDO Partner